1980

# the State of Utah v. Danny Brent Criscola : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The appellant, Danny Brent Criscola, appeals from a conviction and judgment of Unlawful Distribution of a Controlled Substance for Value in the Third Judicial District Court, in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The appellant, Danny Brent Criscola, was charged with Unlawful Distribution of a Controlled Substance, a felony in violation of Title 58, Chapter 37, Section 8(1)A, Utah Code Annotated, 1975 as amended. A jury found appellant guilty and he was sentenced to incarceration at the Utah State Prison for the indeterminate term as provided by law.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks a reversal of the conviction and judgment rendered below and a remand to the Third Judicial District Court for a new trial.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

At trial, the State alleged that appellant, Danny Brent Criscola, offered and sold for value one quarter ounce of cocaine to narcotics agents, Robert Powers and Steven Douglas Brown. Appellant took the stand and testified in his defense. Appellant testified that agents Powers and Brown were driving alongside the car which his brother, Robert Criscola, was driving. There were "a few other people in the car" and appellant was in the back seat. (T. 86,87) Agent Powers motioned for Robert Criscola to roll down his window and a conversation took place. The agents said they were from Phoenix and were looking for a place to buy drinks over the bar. The agents were invited to go to a private club with appellant, his brother and their friends. The agents went to the private bar, and when the bar closed, Robert Criscola invited the agents to his home. Appellant rode in the agents' car to direct them to Robert's home. (T.88) Drinks were served and a poker game was started at Robert's home. (T.89)

During the course of the evening, Robert Criscola, sold a half a gram of cocaine to Agent Powers (T.71,91). Appellant further testified that he was concerned about his brother's

dealings, especially in reference to the two agents (T.92). The agents asked Robert if he could get more cocaine for them. (T.92) Appellant testified that he was fearful that his brother was getting involved with questionable characters. (T.97) The agents had indicated to appellant that they were with an organization that was distributing drugs in Phoenix. (T.97). The agents also continued to lead the conversation to the subject of drugs (T.93). Appellant testified that he was fearful for his brother because of the demanding, insisting attitude of the agents (T.98). Appellant told the agents to deal with him directly and explicitly told them not to deal with his brother (T.97,74,52,42). Prior to that directive Agent Powers testified that his dealings had been with Robert Criscola (T.41). Appellant explained that the reason for telling the agents to deal with him was to "pull them off" his brother. His explanation for taking the risk of stepping between his brother and the two agents was that his younger brother, Robert, had never been in "trouble" before while appellant had been in prison before, was having marital and health problems and therefore felt he had less to lose (T.105,106). Appellant maintained throughout his testimony that his concern of the questionable character of the agents and his fear for his brother led him to intervene and accomodate the agent's requests for narcotics.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

#### REFUSAL TO SUBMIT JURY INSTRUCTION ON THE SUBJECTIVE THEORY OF ENTRAPMENT, THE APPLICABLE LAW AT THE TIME OF THE OFFENSE, VIOLATED APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS OF LAW.

The Constitution of the United States and the State of Utah both expressly prohibit any ex post facto law Article I, Section 10 of the United States Constitution provides:

No state shall . . . pass any bill of attainder, ex post facto law, or law impairing the obligation of contracts.

Article I, Section 18 of the Constitution of Utah provides:

No bill of attainder, ex post facto law, or any law impairing the obligation of contracts shall be passed.

The above provisions are commonly referred to as the ex post facto clause and was first given judicial interpretation in Calder v. Bull, 3 Dall. 386 (1798). In that case the United States Supreme Court was faced with a question of the retroactive application of a change in probate law by a state legislature. The Court noted two important factors in the application of the ex post facto clause. First, the clause applies primarily to criminal actions. Secondly, the nature of retroactive application applies to the time that the offense was alleged to have been committed. The Court in an often-quoted passage described four situations that it considered to be exemplary of ex post facto laws;



I will state what laws I consider ex post facto within the words and intention of the prohibition. First, every law that makes an action done before the passing of the law; and which was innocent when done, criminal; and punishes such action. Second, every law that advocates a crime, or makes it greater than it was when committed. Third, every law that changes the punishment, and inflicts a greater punishment, than the law annexed to the crime when committed. Fourth, every law that alters the legal rules of evidence and receives less or different testimony than the law required at the time of the commission of the offense in order to convict the offender. All these and similar laws are manifestly unjust and oppressive. 3 Dall. 386, 390-391.

In Bouie v. City of Columbia, 84 S.Ct. 1697 378 U.S. 347 (1964), the Supreme Court determined that since state legislatures are barred by the ex post facto clause from passing such a law, state courts are barred by the due process clause from achieving precisely the same result by judicial construction. Thus the states cannot do by judicial interpretation what they cannot do legislatively. The trial court's failure to give an instruction on entrapment that was proper under this Court's decisions at the time that the offense was committed was in effect an ex post facto fact application of judicial decision which ". . . makes an action done before the passing of the law; and which was innocent when done, criminal; and punishes such action."

The instruction offered by appellant at his trial was proper under prior decisions of this Court,<sup>1</sup> where the issue of entrapment permits a searching inquiry into the "conduct and motivations of both the officers and the defendant, including the past conduct of the defendant in committing similar crimes, and the general activities and character of defendant". State v. Taylor, 599 P.2d 496, 500 (Utah 1979), State v. Bridwell, 566 P. 2d 1232 (1977), Somells v. United States, 287 U.S. 435, 53 S.Ct. 210, 77 L.Ed. 413 (1932). This inquiry is a subjective theory of entrapment and one which this Court followed until the decision in State v. Taylor, supra, where the entrapment statute was interpreted as requiring an objective test.

---

1. Defendant's Instruction:

For a peace officer to procure a person to commit a crime, which he otherwise would not have committed, for the purpose of apprehending and prosecuting him is entrapment. This is so discordant to the true function of law enforcement which is the prevention, not the causation, of crime; and so repugnant to fundamental concepts of justice that the conviction of an accused under such circumstances will not be approved. When that issue is present, the question is whether the crime is the product of defendant's own intention and desire, or is the product of some incitement or inducement by the peace officer. If the crime was in fact so instigated or induced by what the officer did that the latter's conduct was the generating cause which produced the crime, and without which it would not have been committed, the defendant should not be convicted. On the other hand, if the defendant's attitude of mind was such that he desired and intended to commit the crime, the mere fact that an officer or someone else afforded him the opportunity to commit it would not constitute entrapment which would be a defense to its commission; and this would not be less true even though an undercover man went along with the defendant in the criminal plan and aided or encouraged him in it.

If, after a consideration of all the evidence you have a reasonable doubt that the defendant, Darny Brent Criscola, may have been subject to entrapment as defined above, you must find him not guilty.

See also State v. Curtis, 542 P.2d 744 (Utah 1975), where the court said that the inquiry included one into defendant's "voluntary will and desire." Accord, State v. Pacheco, 369 P.2d 494, 496 (Ut. 1962), State v. Perkins, 432 P.2d 50 (Ut. 1967). The court denied the use of appellant's instruction and instead used the state's instruction which is based on an objective theory.<sup>2</sup>

State v. Taylor, supra, was handed down August 7, 1979 and the alleged offense in this case occurred in April of 1977. At that time the defense of entrapment involved a subjective test. Appellant Criscola would have been allowed to instruct the jury on the question of his subjective intent with respect to entrapment. After the Taylor decision, the focus changed and hence such an inquiry would not have been proper. A change, by court decision in an interpretation of a criminal statute which after the change, requires something "different" than the earlier law, is a violation of the Calder and Bouie principles, the appellant was entitled to a subjective theory of entrapment

---

## 2. State's Instruction (no. 17):

It is a defense that the actor was entrapped into committing the offense. Entrapment occurs when a law enforcement officer or a person directed by or acting in co-operation with the officer induces the commission of an offense in order to obtain evidence of the commission for prosecution by methods creating a substantial risk that the offense would be committed by one not otherwise ready to commit it. Conduct merely affording a person an opportunity to commit an offense does not constitute entrapment.

This instruction quoted is the language of entrapment statute, Utah Code Ann. §76-2-303 (1953 as amended). This statute itself is now interpreted as requiring by legislative intent an objective inquiry. State v. Taylor, 599 P.2d at 501.

instruction as such a focus was the law at the time the offense was committed. Application of an objective standard, which is what the law required after the commission of the offense in this case was an ex post facto judicial interpretation with respect to the appellant and hence the failure to instruct on the entrapment law in effect at the time of the commission of the offense violated appellant's constitutional right to Due Process of Law.

#### CONCLUSION

The appellant contends that the trial court's refusal to submit his requested jury instruction on the subjective theory of entrapment, the applicable law at the time of the offense, was a violation of the constitutional prohibition against ex post facto laws and in violation of due process and therefore his conviction cannot stand.