1980

the State of Utah v. Danny Brent Criscola : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellant was convicted of Unlawful Distribution of a Controlled Substance for Value, a violation of Utah Code Annotated, § 58-37-8(1)A (1975), as amended, a felony of the third degree.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Appellant was tried and convicted by a jury in the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the Honorable Dean E. Conder, presiding, on October 3 and 4, 1979, and sentenced to an indeterminate term of 0 to 5 years in the Utah State Prison.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent seeks affirmance of Appellant's conviction.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On April 6, 1978, at approximately 7:00 a.m., Appellant phoned Robert Powers, a special agent for the Arizona Drug Control District, and Steve Brown, an undercover agent for the State Narcotics and Liquor Law Enforcement Division, Utah Department of Public Safety, (T.25) to invite them to meet him at his residence to further negotiate a drug deal that had been discussed the previous evening. (T.26). Powers and Brown had met Appellant and his brother on the evening of April 5th when the agents accompanied them to a private club (T.51). At the club, Appellant introduced Powers and Brown to a couple of pilots who Appellant stated were "flying loads of marijuana." Appellant asked to see Powers identification because he wanted to make sure Powers was from Arizona as he had claimed (T.51). Later that evening, a drug transaction between Agent Powers and Appellants brother, Bobby Criscola, occurred. Agent Brown testified at trial that prior to the transaction taking place, Bobby looked at Appellant, who appeared to accept the terms of the deal by nodding his head (T.79). Appellant disputed this testimony at trial (T.90).

Upon arriving at Appellant's brother's house, Powers and Brown met Appellant, his brother, and a woman identified as Frankie (T.27). A conversation took place

regarding a quarter ounce of cocaine (T.27). Agent Powers asked Appellant if the cocaine were "still available" and how much it would cost. Appellant told Powers that the price would be around \$600. Agents Powers and Brown subsequently accompanied Appellant, his brother, Frankie, and an unidentified man to a cafe where the discussion concerning drugs continued (T.30). Prior to this time, Appellant instructed Powers not to deal with his brother, Bobby Criscola, but to deal directly with Appellant (T.42,52,97).

At the trial, Agent Powers testified that Appellant asked Brown if he were interested in a "girl," a slang term for cocaine (T.30,60). Brown said that he was and asked if it were still available. The group left the cafe and Appellant's brother told the agents to call them around 2:30 or 3:00 that afternoon (T.32). Powers called Appellant at the agreed upon time and Appellant asked him if he were still interested in the cocaine. Powers replied that he was and Appellant told him to come to his brother's house. Powers and Brown drove over to Bobby Criscola's house and Appellant met them between the house and street (T.33). Appellant informed them that they would have to make a "run" to pick up the cocaine (T.33) and the three of them, Agents Powers and Brown and Appellant left in Agent Brown's car (T.34). Appellant repeatedly asked Brown and Powers if they were

police officers (T.35,63) and they stated that they were not. Appellant directed them to stop the car at approximately 1700 South and 1300 East. Appellant asked for the agreed upon \$600 and the agents told him they would give him \$300 up front and the remaining \$300 when they got the cocaine. Brown counted the \$600.00 in front of Appellant and placed the money on the console between the two front seats of the car. (T.36). Appellant then told the agents it would not be necessary to give him any money until they received the cocaine (T.64). Appellant left the vehicle and returned a few minutes later (T.36). Appellant again asked Powers and Brown if they were police officers and again they said they were not. Appellant then handed Agent Brown a plastic bag containing the cocaine (T.37) and Powers gave Appellant the money (T.37).

There was a discussion regarding the possibility of future negotiations between Appellant and the agents (T.38). Appellant stated that he was reluctant to talk about cocaine on the telephone and wanted to set up a code (T.38,67). Appellant told Powers that if he were interested in buying ounces of cocaine, he should mention "ski boots;" if he were interested in buying half-pounds of cocaine, he should mention "ski poles;" and if he were interested in buying pounds of cocaine, he should talk about "skis" (T.38).

Appellant once again expressed concern that Powers and Brown were police officers, but told them that "if [they] played [their] cards right, [they] could flood the Phoenix market with good cocaine from Salt Lake" (T.39,53).

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED
THE JURY ON THE APPLICABLE THEORY OF
ENTRAPMENT.

Appellant argues that the trial court's refusal to submit his jury instruction on the subjective theory of entrapment constituted error and violated his right to due process of law. Appellant further argues that the court retroactively applied the objective test for entrapment adopted by this Court in State v. Taylor, 599 P.2d 496 (Utah 1979) an action prohibited as an ex post facto law. Respondent submits that there was no ex post facto application of a criminal statute, that appellant did not preserve his claim for appeal in that at trial he argued an opposing theory, and finally that the trial court's instructions to the jury presented the appropriate theory of entrapment.

The constitutional prohibition against any ex post facto application of a criminal statute is not at issue in this case. Appellant argues, however, that although the trial court did not retroactively apply a new criminal statute, not in effect at the time the crime was committed,

the court allegedly accomplished the same thing by applying a new statutory construction of a previously enacted statute, Utah Code Ann. § 76-2-303 (1953) as amended. Appellant cites the case of Bouie v. City of Columbia, 378 U.S. 347 (1964), in support of this argument. Respondent contends that Appellant's reliance on Bouie is misplaced. Bouie involved two defendants who were charged with criminal trespass in violation of a local statute which prohibited entry onto premises of another after receiving notice not to enter. Their convictions were affirmed by the State Supreme Court and they petitioned the United States Supreme Court for review by certiorari. The petitioners claimed that the State Supreme Court's new construction of the statute to cover not only the act of entry onto premises of another after receiving notice not to enter, but also the act of remaining after receiving notice to leave, in effect punished them for conduct that was not criminal at the time they committed it, and thus violated the requirement of the due process clause that a criminal statute must give fair warning of the conduct which it prohibits.

The United States Supreme Court held in Bouie that the action of the State Supreme Court, in giving retroactive application to its new construction of the statute, deprived petitioners of their right to fair warning

of a criminal prohibition, and thus violated the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. In Bouie, the Court was dealing with retroactive application of new statutory construction of a substantive criminal statute, the effect of which was to make an act that was not criminal at the time it was committed, a crime. That is not the situation here. In this case, Appellant was convicted for the crime of Unlawful Distribution of a Controlled Substance for Value. The criminal conduct and the requirement that one have fair warning of specifically which conduct is prohibited is not an issue here. What is at issue is the statutory defense of entrapment and the court's use of the applicable law in instructing the jury. Appellant was not deprived of notice of prohibited acts; the due process rights of Appellant, with which the Court in Bouie was concerned, have not been violated. Thus, there is no ex post facto situation in the present case.

Secondly, Appellant's claim that the court's instruction to the jury was improper because it embodied the objective test for entrapment adopted by this court in State v. Taylor, 599 P.2d 496 (Utah 1979), is diametrically opposed to the theory or objection he posed at trial. Counsel for Appellant, at trial, objected to the court's Instruction No. 18 because "it appears to concentrate on a subjective

standard that is concentrating on the victim of potential entrapment rather than the activities of the persons - the agents of the state who are in fact engaging in that conduct." (T.145) In other words, Appellant's counsel at trial objected to the court's instruction because it set forth the subjective test for entrapment; yet on appeal, counsel for Appellant now chooses to argue that the court erred in failing to instruct on the subjective theory of entrapment. It appears that Appellant on appeal now wants what he voiced objection to at trial.

Finally, respondent submits it was totally proper for the trial court to instruct the jury on the objective theory of entrapment and indeed, it would have been error for the court to do otherwise since the trial occurred after this Court issued its ruling in State v. Taylor, supra, which required a jury instruction on the objective theory of entrapment. Since the Taylor ruling focuses on a defense which is raised procedurally at trial, and is not a decision which changed the element of a crime as in Bouie, supra, respondent submits that the critical date for implementation of the new ruling is not when the crime was committed, but rather when the appellant's case went to trial.

POINT II

THE EVIDENCE PRODUCED AT TRIAL SUPPORTS APPELLANT'S CONVICTION UNDER EITHER THE SUBJECTIVE OR OBJECTIVE THEORY OF ENTRAPMENT.

In the case of State v. Taylor, supra, this court stated that the subjective theory of entrapment focused on whether the particular defendant was predisposed to commit the crime or was an otherwise innocent person who would not have erred, except for the persuasion of the government's agents. Whereas, the objective theory of entrapment adopted by this Court in Taylor focuses on whether the police conduct revealed in the particular case falls below standards for the "proper use of governmental power." Id. at 500.

The facts of this case cannot support a defense of entrapment under either the subjective theory or the objective theory. Under the subjective theory, the conduct of Appellant, shows that it was he who contacted agents after the initial meeting; it was Appellant who determined the price of the cocaine; it was Appellant who directed the agents to the place where he picked up the cocaine, sold it to the agents, and received the money. Further, it was Appellant who continuously and repeatedly asked the agents if they were police officers - surely not the actions of an "otherwise innocent person" who would not commit the crime

except for the persuasion of the government's agents. Had Appellant had no predisposition to commit the crime, he could have chosen not to contact the agents to resume negotiations for the drug sale. Appellant claims he did all of this, however, because he wanted to protect his little brother. Yet, no threats were made to Appellant or his little brother, and although Appellant claims he was afraid to refuse to sell the agents drugs, he never told them he would not sell them drugs, even to see their reaction.

Under the objective theory of entrapment, the conduct of the agents involved must be carefully scrutinized. The transcript reveals that the conduct of the agents involved cannot be criticized. There were no threats made by the agents to either Appellant or his little brother. Further, no coercive tactics were employed to entice Appellant into committing the crime. The agents merely provided Appellant with an opportunity to carry out his criminal intention. Once again, it was not the agents who made subsequent contact with Appellant, but rather it was Appellant who remained in contact with the agents. See State v. Summers, 569 P.2d 1110 (Utah 1977) and State v. Curtis, 542 P.2d 744 (Utah 1975).

The facts clearly establish that the Appellant was

not entrapped into committing the crime for which he was convicted; rather he was merely apprehended.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing argument and case law, Respondent urges this Court to affirm Appellant's conviction.